FILEL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

02/22/2021

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0423

Supreme Court No. DA 19-0423

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHARLES CLIFFORD HAMLIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis & Clark County, the Honorable Mike Menahan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

DAVID M. MALDONADO MALDONADO LAW, PLLC 210 N. Higgins, Suite 226 Missoula, MT 59802

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT TIMOTHY C. FOX
Montana Attorney General
C. MARK FOWLER
Bureau Chief
Appellate Services Bureau
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Appellant presents the following issue for this Court:

- Did the district court err by denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict when the State relied upon minute entries as competent evidence to show an Order of Protection was in place; and
- 2. Did the district court err when it summarily denied defendant's ability to collaterally challenge the validity of the order of protection at trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Clifford Hamlin (hereafter "Appellant") appeals the district court's judgment convicting him of two counts of violations of an order of protection, 3rd or subsequent offense, and one count of stalking (App. H, D.C. Doc 116) On January 22 through January 25, 2019, a jury trial was held in this matter. *Id.* The jury convicted Appellant of counts I—III. *Id.* Appellant was sentenced on April 17, 2019 to two years to the Montana Department of Corrections on counts I and II for those counts to run concurrently, followed by an additional five years on count

III with all that time to run concurrent. *Id.*

<u>FACTS</u>

The material facts primarily rest in the procedural posture of proceedings related to a temporary order of protection issued in December 2017 and legal arguments at a jury trial in January 2019, after the State rested its case-in-chief.

Appellant was charged by Information on or about February 7th, 2018 (App. A.) The State charged Appellant as follows: (1) Count I, Violation of Order of Protection (3rd or subsequent offense), in violation section 45·5·626(1), MCA, a felony, alleged to have occurred on January 8th, 2018; (2) Count II, Violation of Order of Protection (3rd or subsequent offense), in violation section 45·5·626(1), MCA, a felony, alleged to have occurred on January 23rd, 2018; (3) Count III Stalking, a felony, in violation of section 45·5·220(1)(b) and (3), MCA, alleged to have occurred between on or about December 22, 2017, and on or about January 23, 2018. *Id*.

Additionally, and in the alternative to Count III, the State alleged in Counts 5 through 10, Violation of Order of Protection (3rd or subsequent offense), in violation of section 45-5-626(1), MCA, felonies,

alleged to have occurred on December 22 and 29th, 2017, amounting to two occasions on January 8, 2018, and separate and distinct violations on January 13th and January 23, 2018. *Id.* Appellant entered not guilty pleas and the case proceeded to a jury trial on January 22, 2019 (Trial Trans., p. 1).

A. The Temporary Order of Protection

In BDR 2014·330, the district court ordered a temporary order of protection (hereafter "TOP or TOP hearing") on Monday, December 1, 2017. (App. B, State's Exhibit 8.) This temporary order of protection would be the basis for all the charges against Appellant. The temporary order of protection was filed with the clerk on Monday, December 4, 2017, *id.*, and set a hearing for December 21st, 2017 at 11:30 a.m. *Id.* A hearing that would never occur.

Two days prior to the scheduled hearing, on December 19, 2017, sua sponte, the court continued the hearing recognizing that Respondent had not been served with the TOP. (App. C, State's Exhibit 35A.) No where in the minute entry did it indicate the temporary order of protection was to remain in place. See id.

Five days after the original hearing date was set on December 26, 2017, Respondent was served with the TOP and the minute entry from December 19, 2017. (App. D, State's Exhibit 20). On January 3, 2018, the date of the TOP hearing, Respondent was present with counsel and Petitioner was present in the building but was "unable" to enter the courtroom, so the court again, sua sponte, continued the hearing (App. E, State's Exhibit 36). According to a minute entry, this time the court indicated the temporary order of protection would remain in full force and effect until the next hearing which was set for January 16, 2018. Id.

On January 9th, Petitioner's counsel filed an unopposed motion and order continuing the TOP hearing, which indicated the TOP to remain in effect. (App. F, State's Exhibit 37-38). On January 29th, 2018, Respondent's counsel filed a stipulated motion and order with the court which vacated the January 30, 2018, TOP hearing and required a status report. (App. G, State's Exhibit 39)

B. Directed Verdict and reopening the State's case-in-chief

In the subsequent criminal proceedings, the State presented its casein-chief calling numerous witnesses and offering several exhibits. After

the State rested its case-in-chief, the defense made two motions. One for directed verdict arguing insufficient evidence, Tr. Trans, 1/22/19, p. 506 at ln. 7, and the other one collaterally challenging the Order of Protection, *id.* at p. 513, lns 24·25; p. 514, lns. 1·8. The defense's motion for directed verdict was on all Counts except Count III. *Id.* at p. 507, lns. 21·25, p. 508, lns. 1·5. The trial court denied both motions. *Id.* at p. 513, ln 20 (denying motion for directed verdict); id. at p. 514 at lns. 19·23 (denying defense's ability to attack the validity of the order of protection).

Despite denying the defense's motions and the State resting its case-in-chief, the State moved, pursuant to Mont. R. Evid. 611(a), to reopen its case. Tr. Trans, 1/22/19, p. 524 at lns. 2-6. The court granted the motion on the basis that the State did not rest its case in front of the jury. *Id.* at p. 528 at lns. 17-20.

Once the State's case-in-chief was reopened, it offered exhibits 35A through 41, which were court documents related to the order of protection proceedings. *Id.* at p. 534, ln. 25; p. 535, lns. 10-19. Once admitted, the State rested and did so on the premise that the jury could

read the documents related to the proceedings. *See id.* Facts are added as needed.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

In regards to the first issue, this Court reviews the question of whether sufficient evidence supports a conviction *de novo. State v. Swann*, 2007 MT 126, ¶ 19, 337 Mont. 326, 160 P.3d 511. The evidence is considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution to determine whether "any rational trier of fact could have found all the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Torres*, 2013 MT 101, ¶ 16, 369 Mont. 516, 299 P.3d 804 (quoting *State v. Trujillo*, 2008 MT 101, ¶ 8, 342 Mont. 319, 180 P.3d 1153).

To the second issue, this Court reviews a district court's decision on issues of law to determine whether the decision was correct. *State v. Frickey*, 2006 MT 122, P 9, 332 Mont. 255, 136 P.3d 558; *see also State v. Krebs*, 2016 MT 288, ¶ 7, 385 Mont. 328, 330, 384 P.3d 98, 100 (reviewing predicate offense used for enhancement on correctness grounds).

ARGUMENT

1. There was insufficient, competent evidence to prove that a valid temporary order of protection was in place which was an essential element of the crime.

"When, at the close of the prosecution's evidence or at the close of all the evidence, the evidence is insufficient to support a finding or verdict of guilty, the court may, on its own motion or on the motion of the defendant, dismiss the action and discharge the defendant.

However, prior to dismissal, the court may allow the case to be reopened for good cause shown." 46-16-403, MCA.

Here, the defense properly argued that there was insufficient evidence offered that a valid order of protection was in place from December 22, 2017 through January 23, 2018. Tr. Trans, 1/22/19, p. 506 at lns. 7-25. The district court ordered a temporary order of protection on Monday, December 1, 2017 and set a hearing for December 21st, 2017 at 11:30 a.m. A hearing that would never occur but was set at exactly twenty days. (App. B, State's Exhibit 8).

The basis for the twenty (20) days is clear. Specifically, section 40-15-201(4), MCA, provides that [t]he court may, without requiring prior notice to the respondent, issue an immediate temporary order of

protection for up to 20 days if the court finds, on the basis of the petitioner's sworn petition or other evidence, that harm may result to the petitioner if an order is not issued before the 20-day period for responding has elapsed. *Id.* at (4)(emphasis added).

At this point, the defense argued the Order of Protection expired, yet the lower court denied the motion for directed verdict. The State offered in its original case-in-chief only the TOP, Return of Service, an Order from February 13, 2018, and subjective and irrelevant testimony about the protected person's belief that the TOP was in place. January 23, 2018. Tr. Trans, 1/22/19, p. 508 at lns. 7-22; see also State's Exhibit 9.

At this point in the proceedings, no rationale trier of fact could have concluded a TOP was in place. Violations could not have occurred on December 22, 2017 because Appellant was not served until four days later on December 26, 2017. Although service is not required to sustain a conviction, section 45·5·626(1), any violations required the Appellant knew the order was in place, id. And all that he was served with was the original TOP and a minute entry continuing the hearing. Nothing in the December 19, 2017 Minute Entry indicated the TOP was to

remain in place. (App. C, State's Exhibit 35A), State's Exhibits 35A through 41 were not even offered into evidence until the State was allowed to reopen its case and after the defense had argued both that there was insufficient evidence and that it wanted to collaterally attack the Order of Protection based on *State v. Huffine* 2018 MT 175, ¶ 23, 392 Mont. 103, ¶ 23, 422 P.3d 102, ¶ 23. *See* January 23, 2018. Tr. Trans, 1/22/19, p. 514 at lns. 3-4.

Here, the threshold and dispositive question is what constituted affirmative and competent evidence that the TOP was in place during the time of the allegations. By way of analogy, when attacking prior convictions related to misdemeanor traffic offenses, in *State v*.

Chaussee, this Court clearly stated:

Affirmative evidence may include direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. But whatever evidence is offered, it must be more than a silent or ambiguous record, and conclusory or self-serving inferences drawn therefrom, or testimony speculating about what might have happened in the underlying case. Affirmative evidence is evidence which demonstrates that certain facts actually exist or, in the context of a collateral challenge, that certain facts actually existed at some point in the past—for example, that the trial court actually did not advise the accused of her right to counsel, or that an indigent defendant actually requested the appointment of counsel but counsel was actually refused. An affidavit from the defendant, a witness, or court personnel attesting this sort of affirmative evidence

will figure more persuasively in the calculus of whether the rebuttable presumption of regularity has been overcome than will, for example, references to *unclear court minutes*, judge's notes, or preprinted forms.

Id. at 2011 MT 203, ¶ 18, 361 Mont. 433, ¶ 18, 259 P.3d 783, ¶ 18(emphasis in original and added).

Here, this Court is faced with too many questions. First, the TOP was ordered on December 1, 2017 with a hearing set on December 21, 2017, yet miraculously the district court two days prior, with nothing scheduled or docketed just continues the hearing. (App. D, State's Exhibit 20). Then the hearing is reset but Appellant was not even afforded the 20 day response period by statute or the ability to request an emergency hearing within the initial 20 days set by statute. 40-15-201(4), MCA; 40-15-202(2), MCA.

There is no record that supports the lower court found good cause for the December 19, 2017 continuance as required.

Specifically, section 40-15-202(1) provides a hearing must be conducted within 20 days unless good cause exists. By statute on December 19, 2017, when the court, *sua sponte*, continued the TOP hearing, it was required that good cause be established for

the delay and the good cause why the TOP would be continued, amended, or made permanent. *Id.* Therefore, the lower court's determination that the court did not say the TOP was dismissed, supported by unclear court minutes, was both illogical and inconsistent with this Court precedent regarding affirmative evidence. Accordingly, the lower the court erred in allowing this matter to be submitted to a jury to decide: Minute Entries and Motions were insufficient competent evidence to establish a TOP was in place.

2. The district court erred when it summarily denied defendant's ability to collaterally challenge the validity of the order of protection and therefore violated his due process rights.

The Due Process Clause of Article II, Section 17, of the Montana Constitution "protects a defendant from being sentenced based upon misinformation." *State v. Chaussee*, 2011MT 203, ¶ 9, 361 Mont. 433, 259 P.3d 783. "A constitutionally infirm prior conviction used for enhancement purposes constitutes 'misinformation of constitutional magnitude." *Id.* Thus, the state "may not use a constitutionally infirm conviction to support enhanced punishment." *State v. Chaussee*, 2011

MT 203, ¶ 9, 361 Mont. 433, 259 P.3d 783. (quoting *State v. Okland*, 283 Mont. 10, 15, 941 P.2d 431, 434 (1997)). Naturally, these unwavering principles extend to proof in a case where the predicate is an Order of Protection. *See generally State v. Huffine*. Id. 2018 MT 175, ¶23, 422 P.3d 102, 114-15

The district court's decision to allow the State to reopen its case-in-chief offering exhibits related to whether a valid order of protection was in place and denying defense's ability to legally challenge the order of protection was both legally incorrect and resulted in a substantial injustice by allowing an element of the allegations to be presumed and the jury to read biased hearsay on a proceeding. See Jury Ins. 17 (stating "Prima face evidence is evidence which, if unexplained or uncontradicted, is sufficient to sustain a judgment in favor of the issue which it supports"); App. E, State's Exhibit 36 ("Minute Entry")(stating Petitioner unable to entre the courtroom)

This case presents the issue that remained outstanding following dicta in State v. Huffine. In Huffine, this Court stated the following:

[u]pon our independent review of the record on appeal, we similarly find no basis upon which to suspect that the 2006 protective order at issue was constitutionally invalid. Thus, we need not consider whether, by extension of or analogy to our holding in *Maine*, a criminal defendant charged with violating a protective order may similarly collaterally challenge the validity of the order in a subsequent criminal proceeding."). Here, the district erred in two ways. First, it did not allow the defense to challenge the validity of the TOP. Second, the evidence was insufficient relying on minute entries: Documentation this Court has clearly rejected in the context prior convictions. Taken as whole with the jury instructions the evidence presented was insufficient to support a conviction.

Id. 2018 MT 175, ¶23, 422 P.3d 102, 114-15.

This Court turned to the Wyoming Supreme Court in regards to collaterally attacking Order of Protection. See id. Specifically, in Joyner v. State, Defendant argued, inter alia, that the trial court erred by denying his motion to dismiss because he had not been given an opportunity to challenge the underlying order of protection. The Wyoming Supreme Court agreed. Joyner at. 2002 WY 174, ¶23. The court developed a test akin to the analysis in the Main Framework when examining the validity of prior convictions for driving under the influence. State v. Maine, 2011 MT 90, 360 Mont. 182, 187, 255 P.3d 64. Collateral Challenges have been deeply rooted in Montana jurisprudence for nearly half a century. See e.g., Lewis v. State, 153 Mont. 460, 463, 457 P.2d 765, 766 (1969); however, the Maine framework has never been entirely extended when it relates to Orders

of Protection. The *Joyner* Court did create a procedure similar to *Maine*Specifically, the Court found the following procedure to attacking the validity of the protection order:

The defendant has the burden of production for making a prima facie showing that the order of protection was entered in violation of his constitutional rights. Should the defendant meet this burden of production, then the burden shifts and the prosecution must establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the order was constitutionally obtained. The trial court should determine *such questions of law at a pretrial hearing*.

Joyner v. State, 2002 WY 174, ¶19. This procedure and inferences are entirely consistent with Montana Law and this Court should adopt it for future guidance except for forcing it as a pretrial matter. Here, TOP hearings were set and continuances made without a finding of good cause. Respondent did not enjoy the statutory benefit to request an emergency hearing within 3 days as offered by statute because he was not even served within the original 20 days.

Additionally, for all the purported conduct and allegations in this case, perhaps the criminal allegations would have not even come to fruition had the order been served, findings been made. and clearly communicated as to the requirements to remain law abiding. Whether Order was valid is a question of law that the lower court should have considered. It didn't and it violated Appellant's due process rights. The Wyoming Supreme Court tailored a three part remedy of withdrawal of plea, dismissal, and remand for further proceedings. *Joyner v. State*, 2002 WY 174, \$\\$23. This Court can equally fashion a remedy that sets aside the convictions, dismisses the charges, and set matters for hearing on the validity of the Order of Protection and it should do so.

Here, whether the State proved a TOP existed was primarily based on minute entries. By analogy, this Court has almost uniformily rejected collateral challenges to prior driving under the influence convictions by the use of minute entries. See State v. Anderson, 2001 MT 188, ¶ 21, 306 Mont. 243, ¶ 21, 32 P.3d 750, ¶ 21. Here, the prosecution offered an exhibit, didn't explain it, authenticate it, and didn't offer it until it was allowed to reopen its case-in-chief. That exhibit was beyond prejudicial with little probative value when it expressly states the petitioner in the order of protection was in the courthouse but couldn't come into the courtroom. App. E, State's

Exhibit 36. The issue was raised and the lower court erred in denying defense counsel's ability to challenge the validity of the minute entry TOP.

CONCLUSION