03/26/2021

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0423

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 19-0423

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHARLES CLIFFORD HAMLIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County, The Honorable Mike Menahan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General JONATHAN M. KRAUSS Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

Phone: 406-444-2026 Fax: 406-444-3549 JKrauss@mt.gov

LEO GALLAGHER
Lewis & Clark County Attorney
FALLON STANTON
Deputy County Attorney

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was sufficient evidence presented in the record at trial for the jury to find that a valid order of protection existed at the time of Hamlin's alleged violations. As a matter of law and of the facts, the order of protection remained in full force and effect after hearings were continued by the court, the victim, and Hamlin.

Based on essentially the same facts and law, Hamlin's "collateral attack" argument is without merit—to the extent it is properly before this Court on appeal. Hamlin should have raised this type of claim by pretrial motion, not after the State had presented evidence at trial for two days. Moreover, Hamlin's claim on appeal represents a new legal theory not raised or argued at trial.

ARGUMENT

Hamlin has not met his burden on appeal to show either that there was insufficient evidence to convict him or that the underlying order of protection was invalid.

A. Standard of review

Whether evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Dineen*, 2020 MT 193, ¶ 8, 400 Mont. 461, 469 P.3d 122. The standard of review calls for determining whether, in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact

could have found all the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Dineen, ¶ 14.

The grant or denial of a motion to dismiss in a criminal case is a question of law. This Court reviews question of law to determine whether the trial court's interpretation of the law is correct. *State v. Baker*, 2004 MT 393, ¶ 12, 325 Mont. 229, 104 P.3d 491; *City of Missoula v. Gillispie*, 1999 MT 268, ¶ 18, 296 Mont. 444, 989 P.2d 401.

B. Sufficient evidence was presented at trial that a valid order of protection existed and he has not established any factual or legal basis for a "collateral attack" of the order.

Pursuant to statute, a person commits the offense of violation of an order of protection "if the person, with knowledge of the order, purposely or knowingly violates a provision of . . . an order of protection under Title 40, chapter 15."

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-626(1). The district court properly instructed the jury on that statute: "A person commits the offense of violation of order of protection if the person, with knowledge of the order, purposely or knowingly violates a provision of the order of protection." (D.C. Doc. 85 (Instr. 7).) The court also properly instructed on the elements of the offense which the State had to prove at trial: that an order of protection existed; that Hamlin had knowledge of the order of protection; that Hamlin violated a provision of the order of protection; and that Hamlin acted purposely or knowingly. (D.C. Doc. 85 (Instr. 8).)

The law also provides that:

It may be inferred that the defendant had knowledge of an order at the time of an offense if the defendant had been served with the order before the time of the offense. Service of the order is not required upon a showing that the defendant had knowledge of the order and its content.

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-626(1). And the district court instructed the jury accordingly: "It may be inferred that the Defendant had knowledge of an order of protection at the time of an offense if the Defendant had been served with the order of protection before the time of the offense." (D.C. Doc. 85 (Instr. 9).) Regarding the existence of the order of protection, the district court instructed the jury that:

The order of protection is issued by the court, and the respondent is forbidden to do any act listed in the order of protection, even if invited by the petitioner or another person. The order of protection may be amended only by further order of the court or another court that assumes jurisdiction over the matter.

(D.C. Doc. 85 (Instr. 10).) The jury instructions cited above (among the first 17 jury instructions), were given by the court without objection at the beginning of the trial, due to the relative complexity of the charges and the evidence—in particular the alternative charges (Counts IV-X, not at issue on appeal) and to clarify for the jury that the offense requires knowledge of the order, not service. (Tr. at 16, 19, 138-39, 616, 644.)

The law also provides parameters for the existence and continuation of a temporary order of protection:

A hearing must be conducted within 20 days from the date that the court issues a temporary order of protection. The hearing date may be continued at the request of either party for good cause or by the court. If the hearing date is continued, the temporary order of protection must remain in effect until the court conducts a hearing. At the hearing, the court shall determine whether good cause exists for the temporary order of protection to be continued, amended, or made permanent.

Mont. Code Ann. § 40-15-202(1) (emphasis added).

On appeal, Hamlin argues, as a factual matter, that there was insufficient evidence that a valid order of protection existed at the time of the alleged violations of the order and, as a legal matter, that the district court denied Hamlin's "ability to collaterally challenge the validity of the order of protection and therefore violated his due process rights." (Br. of Appellant at 7, 11.) Both claims are without merit.

1. Sufficient evidence was presented at trial that a valid order of protection existed.

First, as he did at trial, Hamlin challenges the sufficiency of the evidence on a single element of the offense only—existence of a (valid) order of protection—and therefore must concede that there was sufficient evidence to prove the remaining elements: that Hamlin had knowledge of the order of protection, violated provisions of the order of protection, and acted purposely or knowingly. The appellant bears

the burden of establishing error on appeal and this Court will decline to address an issue absent authority or developed argument. *State v. Longfellow*, 2008 MT 343, ¶ 18, 346 Mont. 286, 94 P.3d 694.

Second, Hamlin claims that the "threshold and dispositive question" is not the actual evidence presented, but whether that evidence was "affirmative and competent" to prove that the order "was in place during the time of the allegations." (Br. of Appellant at 9.) Of course, Hamlin made no objections at trial to any of the evidence that was admitted establishing the existence or effectiveness of the order of protection. In order to preserve an objection to the admission of evidence for appeal, the objecting party must make a timely and specific objection on the record. See, e.g., State v. Funkhouser, 2020 MT 175, ¶ 12, 400 Mont. 373, 467 P.3d 574 (citing Mont. R. Evid. 103(a)(1); State v. Clausell, 2001 MT 62, ¶ 25, 305 Mont. 1, 22 P.3d 1111). The failure to make a timely during trial constitutes a waiver of the objection. *Id.* (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104(2); State v. Neiss, 2019 MT 125, ¶ 48, 396 Mont. 1, 443 P.3d 435). Thus, while the sufficiency of the evidence is properly before this Court on appeal, the admissibility or "competence" of that evidence admitted without objection is not.

Third, Hamlin's argument on appeal that there was insufficient evidence to establish that a valid order was in place appears to be based solely on the fact that the defense "argued that the Order of Protection expired." (Br. of Appellant at 8.)

Hamlin does not specify on appeal when or how the order of protection "expired" by reference to facts in the record, developed argument, or authority. By way of judicial admission on the record, Hamlin's position at trial was that the order expired on January 3, 2018 (or 24 hours thereafter), because the terms of the order stated it expired 24 hours after the original hearing, and apparently, but without explication, the continuation of the January 3 hearing was constrained by that 24-hour provision. (Tr. at 506-07; *see* State's Ex. 8 at 3.) In any event, the order set the hearing for December 21 "or as soon thereafter as the matter may be heard," thus allowing for continuances as contemplated in the statute. (State's Ex. 8 at 3.)

Finally, the evidence presented at trial—through testimony of S.R., police officers, and other witnesses, and the exhibits of the order of protection proceedings admitted without objection—established that the order of protection was obtained, signed, and issued; Hamlin, as well as other witnesses, knew about the existence of the order and did not question the effectiveness of it; Hamlin was served with the order and other associated documents; Hamlin purposely and knowingly violated the terms of the order through his actions contacting and harassing S.R.; Hamlin and S.R. both retained attorneys who entered appearances in the order of protection case; Hamlin and S.R. each obtained stipulated continuances of the order of protection; Judge McMahon continued the hearings on his own motion and at the request of Hamlin and S.R.; none of the Exhibits from

the order of protection case, or any other evidence, indicate that the order of protection was dismissed, expired, lapsed, or was no longer in effect for any reason; and multiple Exhibits from the order of protection case indicate that the order of protection remained in full force and effect during the time of the alleged offenses and beyond. *See Supra* at 3-10. Moreover, as a matter of law regarding orders of protection: "If the hearing date is continued, the temporary order of protection must remain in effect until the court conducts a hearing." Mont. Code Ann. § 40-15-202(1) (emphasis added). Thus, based on the facts and the law, there was sufficient evidence that a valid order of protection was in existence at the time of Hamlin's violations.

2. The district court did not, as a matter of law or fact, err by not dismissing the charges against Hamlin based his so-called "collateral attack" of the underlying order of protection.

As both the district court and the State noted at trial, Hamlin's objection to the validity of the underlying order of protection was not an issue for the jury to decide and was more like a question of law that properly should have been raised as a motion to dismiss well before trial. (Tr. at 509, 513, 515-16.) As such, the State was correct below and now submits again on appeal, that Hamlin waived any such motion—however he styles it—attacking the validity of the order of protection because he failed to timely raise it. Hamlin did not present a proper

motion to dismiss before trial or any legitimate "collateral attack" at trial or on appeal.

The timely filing of pretrial motions is a well-established requirement. State v. VonBergen, 2003 MT 265, ¶ 13, 317 Mont. 445, 77 P.3d 537. The parties in criminal cases are statutorily mandated to bring any defense, objection, or request capable of determination without trial of the general issue at or before the omnibus hearing, or at the latest, by the subsequent date ordered by the district court. State v. Heavygun, 2011 MT 111, ¶ 15, 360 Mont. 413, 253 P.3d 897; Mont. Code Ann. § 46-13-101(1). A party's failure to do so constitutes a waiver. VonBergen, ¶ 11; State v. Griffing, 1998 MT 75, ¶ 10, 288 Mont. 213, 955 P.2d 1388; Mont. Code Ann § 46-13-101(2). The purpose behind requiring pretrial motions to be brought at or before the omnibus hearing is the "orderly and fair administration of the criminal justice system itself." *VonBergen*, ¶ 16 (internal quotes and citation omitted). The purpose of the omnibus hearing "is to expedite the procedures leading up to the trial of the defendant." State v. Cotterell, 2008 MT 409, ¶ 79, 347 Mont. 231, 198 P.3d 254; Mont. Code Ann. § 46-13-110(2); see also Mont. Code Ann. § 46-13-101(4) (all pretrial motions must be in writing, supported by a statement of the relevant facts, and state with particularity the grounds for the motion and the order or relief sought).

Hamlin objected at trial, in concert with his motion for "directed verdict," that "a Supreme Court case . . . says in a proceeding like this I can challenge the order of protection . . . if he's never been heard—*State v. Huffine*. . . . So I just want . . . I'm doing that." (Tr. at 513-14) Whatever "that" was that he was "doing," Hamlin never said it on the record, never put it in a written motion, never supported it by facts or authority, and never stated with particularity the grounds for any motion or any relief sought. If what "that" was constituted a motion to dismiss—which seems to be the relief Hamlin now wants on appeal—then Hamlin should have raised the issue well before trial with reasoning and authority so that the district court, in the first instance, could make a legal determination and potentially avoid a lengthy trial about conduct for which Hamlin might not be criminally responsible.

That is not what happened here. There were no issues at the omnibus hearing. Hamlin filed no motions to dismiss at any time—not at arraignment, omnibus, or any of the pretrial conferences. Yet this very issue was actually noted by Hamlin on the record six months after omnibus and three months before trial. But such issue spotting by the defense never materialized into a motion for relief that might obviate a trial of the matter. Whatever Hamlin now calls his objection at trial, it could have been and should have been raised well before trial by written,

authoritative motion—not after the State had spent two days at trial presenting evidence.

Hamlin's "collateral attack" on appeal should be dismissed not only because it was not properly raised in a pretrial motion and was therefore waived, but because it is based on new legal theories and authority not previously raised in the district court. It is a well-established rule that this Court will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal, nor may a party raise new arguments or change its legal theory on appeal. *State v. Martinez*, 2003 MT 65, ¶ 17, 314 Mont. 434, 67 P. 3d 207. The critical reason for the rule is that it is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider. *Id.* A party complaining of error must stand or fall upon the ground relied on in the trial court. *State v. Garrymore*, 2006 MT 245, ¶ 62, 334 Mont. 1, 145 P.3d 946 (quotation and citation omitted).

Hamlin has seized upon his off-hand mention of a single case name, without proper citation and without developed argument, and argued for some kind of collateral relief based on authority that does not address his situation. What he wants is to attack the validity of the order of protection because it expired and thereby reverse his convictions based on violation of that order. But the authority he cites for the first time on appeal—his new legal theory—is exclusively related to collateral attacks to underlying convictions which, if nullified, simply convert

felony offenses (based on prior convictions) to misdemeanors because they were "constitutionally infirm."

The end result is a claim on appeal that is novel and was not presented at or before trial and really has nothing to do with the facts or procedural posture of this case. Hamlin was charged and convicted of felonies due to other prior violation of order of protection convictions in his history. And his claim is not that the underlying order of protection in this case was "constitutionally infirm"—because he was without counsel or some other violation of his rights—his claim is that the perfectly constitutional order in this case had expired.

Of course, as found and concluded by the district court and the jury, the order of protection which Hamlin violated remained in effect during the time charged. That conclusion is supported by the law providing that temporary orders of protection "must remain in effect until the court conducts a hearing," Mont. Code Ann. § 40-15-202(1), which never happened in this case due to continuances at the instance of both parties and the court. Thus, while Hamlin's "collateral attack" claim on appeal has been waived and is not properly before this Court for any number of reasons, it is also simply false and unsupported by any facts.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm Hamlin's judgment of conviction for violation of order of protection and stalking.